1                   **IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

2  
3   \* \* \* \* \*

4           CISILIE A. PORSBOLL, f/k/a  
5           CISILIE ANNE VAILE,

6                               Appellant,

7                       vs.

8           ROBERT SCOTLUND VAILE,

9                               Respondent.

S.C. NO.     53798  
D.C. NO:    98-D-230385-D

Electronically Filed  
Sep 02 2009 11:06 a.m.  
Tracie K. Lindeman

10  
11  
12  
13  
14  
15                                   **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

16  
17  
18  
19  
20  
21           MARSHAL S. WILLICK, ESQ.  
22           Attorney for Appellant  
23           Nevada Bar No. 002515

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appeal from *Final Decision and Order Re: Child Support Penalties NRS 125B.095*, by the Hon. Cheryl B. Moss filed April 17, 2009, making a determination that NRS 125B.095 is ambiguous and subject to different interpretations, and that penalties on child support arrears should be calculated under the methodology used by the State Welfare system since 2005, rather than that used by the private Bar for the past fifteen years.

This appeal followed.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

A complete recitation of the lengthy procedural history of this case is set out in the district court's orders, *Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, Final Decision and Order* filed October 9, 2008,<sup>13</sup> and *Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, Final Decision and Order Re: Child Support Penalties NRS 125B.095* filed April 17, 2009.<sup>14</sup> That history is largely irrelevant to the issue of statutory interpretation presented by this appeal.

In the interest of judicial economy, this Statement of Facts will be confined to events commencing with the initial *Motion to Reduce Arrears In Child Support to Judgment* filed November 14, 2007, and the resulting hearings of June 11 and July 11, 2008, which are relevant to the issues before the Court. The additional spurious filings in this case by Scot are the subjects of Supreme Court Case Nos. 51981, 52457, 52244, 52593, and 53687, and are not relevant to this appeal.

On November 14, 2007, Cisilie filed her *Motion to Reduce Arrears In Child Support to Judgment [etc.]*, in an attempt to force collection of long past due child support payments.<sup>15</sup>

On June 11, 2008, a hearing was held on Scotlund's *Motion For Reconsideration and To Amend Order [etc.]*, along with various other of his motions and Cisilie's *Oppositions*. There, for the first time, issues were raised by Scot as to the correct methodology of calculating interest

---

<sup>13</sup> AAP Vol 2, pgs CAV00345-CAV00348.

<sup>14</sup> AAP Vol 2, pgs CAV00378-CAV00381.

<sup>15</sup> AAP Vol 1, pgs CAV00090-CAV00122.



1 and penalties.<sup>16</sup> The court directed the parties to file supplemental points and authorities on the  
2 issue of child support penalties.

3 On July 9, 2008, the Attorney General for the State of Nevada submitted to the court a  
4 *Friend of the Court Brief*.<sup>17</sup>

5 On August 1, 2008, Scotlund filed his *Supplemental Brief Re: Child Support Principal,*  
6 *Penalties, and Attorney Fees*.<sup>18</sup>

7 On August 14, 2008, Cisilie filed her *Supplemental Brief on Child Support Principal,*  
8 *Penalties, and Attorney's Fees*.<sup>19</sup>

9 On September 5, 2008, the Attorney General for the State of Nevada filed a *Supplemental*  
10 *Friend of the Court Brief*.<sup>20</sup>

11 On October 9, 2008, the district court issued its *Notice of Entry of Findings of Fact,*  
12 *Conclusions of Law, Final Decision and Order*.<sup>21</sup>

13 On April 17, 2009, the district court issued its *Notice of Entry of Findings of Fact,*  
14 *Conclusions of Law, Final Decision and Order Re: Child Support Penalties NRS 125B.095*.<sup>22</sup>

15 This appeal followed.  
16  
17  
18  
19  
20

---

21 <sup>16</sup> AAP Vol 2, Excerpts of Transcript, pgs CAV00468-CAV00472.

22 <sup>17</sup> AAP Vol 1, pgs CAV00154-CAV00170.

23 <sup>18</sup> AAP Vol 1, pgs CAV00196-CAV00234.

24 <sup>19</sup> AAP Vol 2, pgs CAV00238-CAV00283.

25 <sup>20</sup> AAP Vol 2, pgs CAV00284-CAV00338.

26 <sup>21</sup> AAP Vol 2, pgs CAV00344-CAV00372.

27 <sup>22</sup> AAP Vol 2, pgs CAV00376-CAV00399.  
28

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE STANDARD OF REVIEW

This appeal purely concerns a question of statutory construction. This Court need not defer to the trial court's reading of the statute, but instead considers the question *de novo*.<sup>23</sup>

### II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

To encourage child support obligors to actually pay child support, the Nevada Legislature has long imposed statutory interest on child support arrears due but unpaid. In 1993, the Legislature added a "penalties" provision, effective as of 1995, under which an obligor who did not pay child support when due would also owe a penalty of "10 percent per annum, or portion thereof, that the installment remains unpaid."

The private Bar began calculating and the family court has been imposing penalties since 1995. If a penalty is owed for less than a year, only a fraction of the annual penalty was assessed; if outstanding for multiple years, multiple annual penalties were applied for as long as installments remained unpaid.

The district attorneys' offices were divided. The Washoe County D.A. calculated interest the same way the private Bar did, but did not calculate penalties. The Clark County D.A. did not calculate or impose interest *or* penalties, despite the statutory mandates to do both. Nevada Welfare consolidated the various D.A. Offices under its effective control.

In 2003, the Nevada Legislature demanded that Welfare begin calculating and collecting interest and penalties per law. 18 years after they were supposed to be collecting interest, and 10 years after they were supposed to be collecting penalties, Welfare got its outdated NOMADS computer system to roughly calculate interest (using months instead of days), and to calculate a non-recurring "penalty" of 10% of an unpaid installment of support in a single lump sum.

---

<sup>23</sup> See *Irving v. Irving*, 122 Nev. 494, 134 P.3d 718 (2006); *Carson City District Attorney v. Ryder*, 116 Nev. 502, 998 P.2d 1186 (2000); *State, Dep't Taxation v. McKesson Corp.*, 111 Nev. 810, 896 P.2d 1145 (1995); *Tighe v. Las Vegas Metro. Police Dep't*, 110 Nev. 632, 877 P.2d 1032 (1994).

1 In 2005, Welfare asked the Legislature to amend the law to allow it to impose the full  
2 annual penalty in a single lump sum the first month support was overdue, as that is what  
3 NOMADS could calculate; the Legislature refused. Welfare implemented its calculation  
4 methodology anyway, and began collecting penalties, obtaining a letter from a deputy Attorney  
5 General that such was permitted under the “ambiguous” penalties statute.

6 That same deputy chose to interpose himself in this case, upon request by Scot, writing  
7 a “Friend of the Court” brief on Scot’s behalf. Based on misinformation supplied by Welfare,  
8 and a number of factual and legal errors, the family court ruled that the Welfare method of  
9 calculating child support penalties should be used in family court.

### 10 11 **III. HOW CHILD SUPPORT PENALTIES ARE CALCULATED**

#### 12 **A. History**

##### 13 **1. Background and Cast of Characters**

14 Multiple persons, agencies, and entities appear in the record, and in the discussion below.  
15 This section is intended to allow the Court to follow more easily who did what, and why.

16 This Court’s 2002 decision in *Vaile*<sup>24</sup> provided for the recovery of two children who had  
17 been spirited out of Norway by Scot to the United States. Scot stopped paying child support  
18 when he kidnaped the children in 2000, and never started paying again, even after they were  
19 recovered, despite his continued receipt (except for a three-year period when he elected to attend  
20 law school in Virginia) of a six-figure income and lavish lifestyle.<sup>25</sup>

21 Greta Muirhead, Esq., is Scot’s on-again, off-again attorney, who appeared intermittently  
22 at some but not all of the family court hearings, claiming each time to be in an “unbundled”  
23 capacity, and so appears at some places in the transcripts and this brief.

---

24 <sup>24</sup> *Vaile v. District Court*, 118 Nev. 262, 44 P.3d 506 (2002).

25 <sup>25</sup> AAP Vol 2, pgs CAV00351, CAV00356.

1 Cisilie is the mother of the two kidnaped children, who received no child support from  
2 April, 2000, until the District Attorney finally began collecting some money from Scot by wage  
3 garnishment in July, 2006.<sup>26</sup>

4 After enormously protracted proceedings, counsel for Scot finally conceded the principal  
5 sum of child support arrearages (\$118,369.96),<sup>27</sup> and the interest on that principal (\$45,089.27),<sup>28</sup>  
6 but the amount of the child support penalty remained in dispute.<sup>29</sup>

7 Until about ten years ago, the various County District Attorney Offices operated  
8 independently, until political consolidation within the Nevada Welfare bureaucracy brought the  
9 District Attorneys of the various counties under the effective control of the Welfare Division.  
10 Thereafter, the State of Nevada, Division of Welfare and Supportive Services, Child Support  
11 Enforcement Program ("CSEP") has contracted with various District Attorneys' Offices to  
12 provide child support services as required under Title IV-D.

13 Ed Ewert, Esq., and Robert Teuton, Esq. (now the Hon. Judge Teuton) were supervisory  
14 attorneys in the Clark County District Attorney's Office, invited by Judge Moss to attend a  
15 hearing and explain how the D.A. actually calculates child support arrearages.

16 The original Pro Bono Project was an independent organization of attorneys dedicated  
17 to securing legal representation for the poor. In 2000, it was merged into Clark County Legal  
18 Services ("CCLS").<sup>30</sup>

19 The history of how the private Bar and state agencies approached child support arrears,  
20 interest, and penalties, is intertwined. Accordingly, while this appeal is solely concerned with  
21 penalty calculations, enough of that history to show what happened and why is set out below.  
22

---

23  
24 <sup>26</sup> AAP Vol 2, pg CAV00362.

25 <sup>27</sup> AAP Vol 2, pgs CAV00364, CAV00467.

26 <sup>28</sup> AAP Vol 2, pgs CAV00364, CAV00467.

27 <sup>29</sup> AAP Vol 2, pgs CAV00380-CAV00381.

28 <sup>30</sup> Now called the Legal Aid Center of Southern Nevada.

## 2. Interest Law

Unpaid installments in child support or spousal support become judgments as a matter of law as of the date they come due and remain unpaid.<sup>31</sup>

The Nevada Legislature amended the legal rate of judgment interest statutes – NRS 17.130(2) and NRS 99.040 – repeatedly in the 1970s and 1980s in reaction to changing inflation. In 1987, the Legislature decided to have the legal interest rate “float,” self-adjusting every six months to the prime rate at the largest bank in Nevada, plus 2%. The legislation itself was devoid of details as to precisely how such calculations were to be done, but some instructions were supplied by this Court’s decisions before and after the statutory change.<sup>32</sup>

Few family law attorneys calculated interest, and those who did either developed spreadsheets, or hired accountants to do the calculations for them. Most of those accountants, however, applied “generally accepted accounting principles” when they were hired to do such calculations – even when such principles directly conflicted with the controlling case law.

This led to significant variability in whether, how, and how much interest was applied to judgments in Nevada family law cases. The multiple changes to applicable interest rates also made the calculations technically difficult. Since installments of pre-July, 1987, arrears had a “fixed” interest rate, while post-July, 1987, arrears “floated,” the number of changes in every calculation increased every six months.

---

<sup>31</sup> NRS 125B.140(2)(c) (court orders for child support arrears shall include “interest upon the arrearages at a rate established pursuant to NRS 99.040, from the time each amount became due . . . interest continues to accrue on the amount ordered until it is paid.”)

<sup>32</sup> The cases are collected and analyzed in Marshal Willick, *A Matter of Interest: Collection of Full Arrearages on Nevada Judgments*, first published in the September, 1990, issue of the NTLA *Advocate*, and revised several times since then, most recently as CLE materials at the Twelfth Annual Family Law Showcase (Tonopah, Nevada, 2001); posted at [http://www.willicklawgroup.com/published\\_works](http://www.willicklawgroup.com/published_works).

1           Spreadsheets required separate columns tabulating interest for each “class” of arrearage,  
2           to determine when each individual dollar of arrears was paid. They grew increasingly complex  
3           and difficult to follow after the 1987 amendments.<sup>33</sup>

### 4 5                           **3.       Interest Calculations by the Private Bar and State**

6           Following this Court’s directions to calculate interest from and to specific dates,<sup>34</sup> the  
7           private Bar has always calculated interest on a daily basis. The Clark County District Attorney’s  
8           legacy mainframe computer system – NOMADS<sup>35</sup> – was set up originally many years ago to  
9           operate and report on a monthly batch cycle, and had *no* provision to calculate or track interest.<sup>36</sup>

10          There were some variations between what public agencies and private attorneys did that  
11          could create differences when interest was being calculated. The IV-D program rules required  
12          application of payments to present support first, but Nevada case law required application of  
13          payments to the oldest arrearage first.<sup>37</sup>

---

14  
15  
16                           <sup>33</sup> In 1989, it was obvious that an automated solution was necessary, and I began work  
17                           on what ultimately became the Marshal Law (“MLAW”) program.

18                           <sup>34</sup> *See, e.g., LTR Stage Lines v. Gray Line Tours*, 106 Nev. 283, 792 P.2d 386 (1990)  
19                           (damages prior to the filing of a complaint accrued interest from the date the complaint is filed);  
20                           *Jones v. Jones*, 86 Nev. 879, 478 P.2d 148 (1970) (when a family law judgment requires  
21                           payments on a series of future dates, any missed payment immediately “draws interest [from that  
22                           date]. . . until satisfied”).

23                           <sup>35</sup> For Nevada Online Multi-Automated Data Systems. NOMADS was set up many years  
24                           ago in an archaic programming language apparently not currently in use anywhere. There is  
25                           apparently no adequate documentation of the previous programming work, making any change  
26                           of any kind in the input, workings, or output of the existing patch-work require lengthy efforts  
27                           by large numbers of people.

28                           <sup>36</sup> *See* AAP Vol 2, pge CAV00308, at which, in 2003, Assemblywoman Buckley demands  
that Welfare create an incentive to actually pay child support by calculating and collecting  
penalties and interest, and Deputy District Attorney Hatch responds that NOMADS just could  
not do so.

<sup>37</sup> *See Foster v. Marshman*, 96 Nev. 475, 611 P.2d 197 (1980).

1 This difference in first application made a difference to the totals reached, at least when  
2 arrears were due from before July, 1987. Rates before that date were fixed, so changing the  
3 arrearage to which a payment applied altered the total owed.

4 So even on identical facts, different arrearages would be calculated by the D.A.s than by  
5 the private Bar and family courts. It still was no problem, really, since the uniform policy of the  
6 District Attorney's offices throughout Nevada was to conform to any total judgment as found  
7 by a district court.

8 As detailed in various of this Court's opinions, the purpose and function of statutory  
9 interest is to compensate the claimant for the use of money from the time the cause of action  
10 accrues until the time of payment.<sup>38</sup> In other words, even when interest is actually calculated on  
11 behalf of an obligee, and the sum is actually collected from an obligor, the person owed the  
12 money pretty much only breaks even on the original sum owed.

#### 13 14 **B. Calculating Penalties**

15 In 1993, the Nevada Legislature tried to come up with some *additional* way of  
16 encouraging delinquent child support obligors to pay their back child support sooner rather than  
17 later. Testifying before the Senate Judiciary Committee on AB 604, then-Attorney General  
18 Frankie Sue Del Papa summarized the thinking on this proposal:<sup>39</sup>

19 The imposition of a 10% penalty for delinquent payments will give teeth to  
20 enforcement provisions already in place and will serve as an incentive for parents  
21 to remain current on monthly support obligations. It is a disappointing reflection  
22 of our society's priorities that other debt obligations – from delinquent power bills  
23 to late credit card payments – are assessed late fees and penalties, yet missed child  
24 support payments are not, reducing such payments to less of an obligation than  
25 paying off a credit card.

26 The legislation ultimately became the "penalties provision," NRS 125B.095:

27 The amount of the penalty is 10 percent per annum, or portion thereof, that the  
28 installment remains unpaid. Each district attorney or other public agency in this

---

29 <sup>38</sup> See *Ramada Inns v. Sharp*, 101 Nev. 824, 711 P.2d 1 (1985) (speaking of NRS  
30 17.130(2)).

31 <sup>39</sup> AAP Vol 1, page CAV00213.

1 State undertaking to enforce an obligation to pay support for a child shall enforce  
2 the provisions of this section.<sup>40</sup>

3 The scant legislative history of the provision was examined in the hearings below, but it  
4 is silent as the precise mechanics of how the penalty calculation should be done, and so that  
5 history is not discussed much in this brief.

6 More problematic below was the persistent quotation of various representatives of the  
7 Welfare system from hearings in *later* years when they sought to amend the statute to comply  
8 with their methodology, and the Legislature refused to do so. First, as the United States Supreme  
9 Court has cautioned, “subsequent legislative history is a ‘hazardous basis for inferring the intent  
10 of an earlier’ Congress.”<sup>41</sup> Second, legislative “inaction lacks ‘persuasive significance’ because  
11 ‘several equally tenable inferences’ may be drawn from such inaction . . . .”<sup>42</sup>

12 That is why the A.G.’s 2005 use of the term “one-time penalty” is irrelevant to the  
13 meaning of a statute written in 1993; that term does not exist in the legislative history of the  
14 actual statute, but was made up later by Welfare as a rationalization. Unfortunately, the court  
15 below did not pick up on that fact, which was part of the lower court’s confusion leading to  
16 error.<sup>43</sup>

17 The private Bar began applying the penalty in 1995, when it became effective, and the  
18 family courts uniformly included a penalty assessment per the statute whenever counsel  
19 requested (and calculated) it.

20 The calculation was not particularly difficult. The statutory language on its face required  
21 calculation of an *annual* penalty, calculated by focusing on each “installment” to see if it had  
22 yet been paid and, if not, calculating a penalty at a 10% annual rate from the time that the sum

---

23 <sup>40</sup> NRS 125B.095(2).

24 <sup>41</sup> *Pension Benefit Guar. Corp. v. LTV Corp.*, 496 U.S. 633, 650 (1990) (quoting *United*  
25 *States v. Price*, 361 U.S. 304, 313 (1960)).

26 <sup>42</sup> *United States v. Novak*, 476 F.3d 1041 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2007) at 1987, quoting *Pension Benefit*  
27 *Guar. Corp. v. LTV Corp.*, 496 U.S. 633, 650 (1990) (quoting *United States v. Wise*, 370 U.S.  
28 405, 411 (1962)).

<sup>43</sup> AAP Vol 2, pgs CAV00382 & CAV00391-CAV00392.



1 went unpaid until the court heard the case. The only information needed was whether a  
2 particular “installment” of child support “remains unpaid” (i.e., was in arrears), then multiplying  
3 the sum by 10% and then by the number of years “or portion thereof” the installment had  
4 remained unpaid.

5 So if a \$500 installment of child support remained totally unpaid for a month, a penalty  
6 of \$4.17 ( $\$500 \times 10\% \div 12$ ) accrued. If it still remained unpaid the next month, another such  
7 penalty accrued, and so forth. After a year, the penalty assessed would be \$50. Throughout the  
8 1990s, such penalty calculations were done by spreadsheet and submitted as exhibits to child  
9 support arrears motions.<sup>44</sup> Apparently, every judge in Nevada who ever heard a child support  
10 motion where a penalty was so calculated approved the reasoning, methodology, and totals, over  
11 all objections that were made.

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