IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CISILIE A. PORSBOLL fka, CISILIE A. VAILE,

Appellant,

VS.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

R. SCOTLUND VAILE,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No: 53798 District Court Case No: 98 D230385

FILED

NOV 1 2 2009

TRACIE K. LINDEMAN
CLERK OF SUPREME COURT
BY
DEPUTY CLERK

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

R. Scotlund Vaile Respondent in Proper Person PO Box 727 Kenwood, CA 95452 (707) 833-2350



Marshal S. Willick, Esq. Attorney for Appellant Nevada Bar No. 002515 3591 E. Bonanza Road, Suite 200 Las Vegas, NV 89110-2101 (702) 438-4100

09-24017

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

ARGUMENT

I. FIRST THRESHOLD DEFENSE – LACK OF PERSONAL JURISDICTION

THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT HAVE COLORABLE PERSONAL JURISDICTION AFTER THIS

COURT HELD THAT THE COURTS OF NEVADA DID NOT HAVE PERSONAL JURISDICTION OF

THE PARTIES

In support of Ms. Porsboll's petition for writ of mandamus in 2000, she submitted four volumes of exhibits in an attempt to convince this honorable Court that the lower court did not have jurisdiction of this case. This court agreed and responded in April 2002 by stating, "[w]e conclude that the district court *did not have personal jurisdiction over either party*, nor did it have subject matter jurisdiction over the marital status of the parties when it entered the decree." This Court elaborated that "[t]he children have never lived in Nevada. Neither party has ever lived in Nevada. The children have never had any contact with Nevada, much less substantial contact with the state. Neither do the parents have substantial contact with Nevada."

^{10.} Vaile, 118 Nev. at 268 (emphasis added); Appx. RSV0010.

¹¹ *Id.* at 276; Appx. RSV0014.

Almost six years after this Court's decision, Ms. Porsboll abruptly reversed her position in order to support a new objective; she reopened this case to argue that the lower court now has jurisdiction. Unbelievably, instead of upholding this Court's decision on the matter, the district court directly countered this Court's holding with its own contrary finding. In the October 9, 2008 Final Decision (hereinafter "Decision I"), the lower court found that "[t]he Court had personal jurisdiction over the parties to order child support at the time of entry of the Decree." The lower court did not offer any explanation for the direct contradiction of this Court's previous holding.

A. THE LOWER COURT MUST FOLLOW THE NEVADA SUPREME COURT'S MANDATE ON JURISDICTION

The district court apparently misapprehended its responsibility to follow this Court's mandate as the *law of the case*, despite this *en banc* Court's recent instructions to the lower courts on how to apply this doctrine:

Under the law of the case doctrine, when an appellate court states a principle or rule of law necessary to a decision, the principle or rule becomes the law of the case and *must be followed* throughout its subsequent progress, both in the lower court and upon subsequent appeal. The law of the case doctrine is designed to ensure judicial consistency and to prevent the reconsideration, during the course of a single continuous lawsuit, of those decisions which are intended to put a particular matter to rest.

<u>Tien Fu Hsu v. County of Clark</u>, 120 Nev. 1228 (2007) (internal quotes omitted, emphasis added).

Regardless of its discord with this honorable Court's decision on the law of personal jurisdiction, it is not the role of a lower court to contradict or re-decide an issue previously determined by this Court. The lower court, and in fact, the Appellate Court

¹² Decision I, ¶ 21(B) (emphasis added); AAP Vol. 2, p. CAV00347.

according to *Tien Fu Hsu*, are bound by the previous decision of this Court whether that decision was believed to be mistaken or not. Without the consistent application of the law of the case doctrine, appellate power and judicial order are compromised, and the rule of law is absent. Based on the law of this case as set forth by this Court, the Nevada courts do not have jurisdiction of the parties. The lower court exceeded its judicial power in attempting to overturn this Court.

B. Colorable Jurisdiction Does Not Exist Once All Relevant Facts are Known

As a part of its finding on personal jurisdiction in this case, the lower court stated that "the Court finds that there was 'colorable jurisdiction' because Mr. Vaile sought the divorce in Nevada, and he submitted himself to jurisdiction for purposes of paying child support." It is likely that the lower court's determination on personal jurisdiction was influenced by a fundamental misunderstanding of what "colorable" jurisdiction means. Colorable jurisdiction is, of course, jurisdiction "appearing to be true, valid, or right." Black's Law Dictionary (8th ed. 2004), colorable.

In 1998, when the parties applied to the lower court for a divorce, the district court and the parties themselves believed, based on all facts and circumstances before them, that jurisdiction was proper. It is not disputed that "colorable jurisdiction" existed *at that time*. However, once all facts are made known and weighed by a court through the litigation process, colorable jurisdiction is replaced with a final judicial determination on whether jurisdiction was, in fact, proper. This is especially true when the court that

^{13.} Decision I, ¶ 137; AAP Vol. 2, p. CAV00361.

makes the final determination is the highest appellate court of the State. As this Court previously explained in this case, "when the proof exhibited has a legal tendency to show a case of jurisdiction, then, although the proof may be slight and inconclusive, the action of the court will be valid *until it is set aside by a direct proceeding for that purpose.*" ¹⁴

This Court made that final determination in April 2002 when it held with simple clarity that the district court did not have personal jurisdiction over either party. After this Court weighed the facts and made a final determination on the issue, there is no longer room for argument that colorable personal jurisdiction continues. The lower court refused to recognize that this Court had already surveyed the jurisdictional facts, and held that personal jurisdiction did not exist. The lower court was mistaken in its belief that a resurrected finding of *colorable* jurisdiction could provide a valid basis for the exercise of personal jurisdiction over the parties to this case.

The parties have, since this Court entered its decision in April 2002, lived outside the state of Nevada. Neither party has taken any actions to establish contacts with the state which would provide a basis for personal jurisdiction to be exercised against them. ¹⁵ Since this Court held, in 2002, that the district court did not have personal jurisdiction of the parties, the lower courts necessarily do not have personal jurisdiction against the absent parties today.

¹⁴ Vaile, 118 Nev. at 271 (emphasis added); Appx. RSV0012.

^{15.} Neither Ms. Porsboll nor the district court suggested that Mr. Vaile had taken any actions to establish jurisdiction in Nevada since 2002.

.

II. SECOND THRESHOLD DEFENSE – LACK OF SUBJECT MATTER
JURISDICTION OVER THE CASE

Two Out-of-State Residents, Neither of Whom Nor Their Children Ever Lived in Nevada, May Not Confer Subject Matter Jurisdiction on the Courts of Nevada for Purposes of Establishing Child Support

In the event that the Court finds that the Nevada courts are not bound by the law of the case as set forth by this Court in April 2002, and that the lack of personal jurisdiction does not readily dispose of this reopened case, then the Court should decide (again) whether a Nevada statute must create a court's subject matter jurisdiction or whether out-of-state parties may confer jurisdiction on the court for purposes of creating a child support order. Mr. Vaile's first responsive filing (a motion to dismiss) to the reopening of this case by Ms. Porsboll emphasized that no Nevada statute provides the court with subject matter jurisdiction to create or modify a child support order for two parties who have never lived in Nevada, whose children have never lived in Nevada, and who have had no substantial contacts with the state. Since "subject matter jurisdiction cannot be waived and may be raised at any time, or *sua sponte* by a court of review," Mr. Vaile requests that this Court reiterate that subject matter jurisdiction to create and modify a child support order for these parties does not exist in Nevada.

A. Parties May Not Confer Subject Matter Jurisdiction on the Court By Consent or Based on Contract Theory

This Court previously held in this case that:

The children have never lived in Nevada. Neither party has ever lived in Nevada. The children have never had any contact with Nevada, much less substantial contact with the state. Neither do the parents have substantial contact with Nevada. The district court had no subject matter jurisdiction over

^{16.} Vaile, 118 Nev. at 276; Appx. RSV0014.

the issue of child custody. Parties may not confer jurisdiction upon the court by their consent when jurisdiction does not otherwise exist.

The court may not assume jurisdiction over matters of child custody and visitation based upon its perception of a *"contract theory"* or upon its view that because it has asserted personal jurisdiction over the parties, it can order them to do or not do certain things.¹⁷

This Court rendered a detailed decision exploring the language of the Nevada Revised Statutes which demonstrated that the text of the code itself did not provide the district court with jurisdiction of the subject matter in this case. The Court explained that "[u]nless the court can exercise subject matter jurisdiction according to the terms of the [law] which Nevada has adopted, it is without authority to enter any order adjudicating the rights of the parties with respect to [areas covered by that law.]"

This Court's point was that a Nevada court is judicially empowered to act in a case or controversy *only as provided by statute*. Consent by the parties, contract principles, or even a strong desire for subject matter jurisdiction to exist in Nevada is insufficient to empower a court if a statute does not provide subject matter jurisdiction.

Apparently disagreeing with the result that would flow from application of this Court's 2002 decision, the district court limited this Court's requirement that subject matter be based in statute to only child custody and visitation topics. In fact, the lower court found that "the Nevada Supreme Court decision only vacated those portions of the decree relating to child custody and visitation, not child support." With regard to child

¹⁷ Id. at 275 (emphasis added); Appx. RSV0014.

^{18.} Id. at 275; Appx. RSV0014.

 $^{^{19.}}$ Decision I, \P 136; AAP Vol. 2, p. CAV00361.

support, the district court demonstrated a belief (contrary to this Court's) that principles of *consent* and *contract* are indeed sufficient to establish subject matter jurisdiction of the Nevada courts on this topic:

"Based on *part performance* and for purposes of determining a sum certain for the District Attorney to enforce, the fixed amount of \$1,300 per month for child support was ordered."

"Under *contract principles*, specifically rescission and reformation, the convoluted portions of the Decree were vacated and modified by the Court to reflect \$1,300.00 per month as the 'sum certain'"

Other than a statement that Plaintiff's motion to dismiss was denied,²⁰ the statements above are the only holdings in the final decision that address Mr. Vaile's challenge to subject matter jurisdiction. The lower court's exercise of subject matter jurisdiction over child support issues based on either consent²¹ or contract principles is in direct defiance of this Court's previous decision in this very case. Neither consent by the parties nor contract principles can confer subject matter jurisdiction on a Nevada court when that jurisdiction is not established in statute.

B. NEITHER UIFSA NOR THE EXERCISE OF PERSONAL JURISDICTION CREATES SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION OVER CHILD SUPPORT

The theory on subject matter jurisdiction that Ms. Porsboll presents on appeal and which she argued in the court below is that 1) UIFSA applies in this case, and 2) that under UIFSA, if personal jurisdiction can be exercised over a party, then a Nevada court automatically has subject matter jurisdiction of the controversy. This proposition is

^{20.} Decision I, ¶ 11(A); AAP Vol. 2, p. CAV00346.

²¹ In the Jurisdictional Statement in Appellant's Opening Brief, Ms. Porsboll appears to take the consent argument one step further by suggesting that *one party* (Mr. Vaile) can establish jurisdiction in Nevada by simply filing papers in the state.

simply incorrect. UIFSA does not apply in this case, and personal jurisdiction does not equate to subject matter jurisdiction.

UIFSA, the Uniform *Interstate* Family Support Act is codified in Nevada Law in NRS 130 et al. UIFSA's purpose is to establish uniform enforcement of sister state support judgments. This Court sent the parties' children to Norway in April 2002 where they have resided ever since. Norway is not a state²² under UIFSA and has not enacted law compatible with UIFSA. No attempt has been made to register either a Norwegian²³ or any other state support order in Nevada, and Ms. Porsboll has not attempted to register a Nevada order elsewhere. In summary, no issues with regard to intrastate child support orders are presented in this case, and UIFSA law is wholly irrelevant.

Although Ms. Porsboll's jurisdictional statement only vaguely identifies the source of subject matter jurisdiction of the case, it does demonstrate that proceedings were brought in the lower court under NRS ch. 130 – Nevada's codification of UIFSA. Since UIFSA does not apply, Appellant's jurisdictional statement is defective, as was the lower court's exercise of subject matter jurisdiction.

Ms. Porsboll's final attempt to intimate that subject matter jurisdiction exists in this case is a reference to NRS 130.201, even though Article 2 of this chapter of the statutes is

^{22.} NRS 130.10179

Although Ms. Porsboll twice testified that a Norwegian support order existed, she has refused to provide it to Mr. Vaile. The lower court rejected Mr. Vaile's attempt to reopen discovery in order to obtain the child support order, and refused to even take judicial notice that any out-of-state order existed on Mr. Vaile's request. *Decision I*, ¶ 11(C); AAP Vol. 2, p. CAV000346; Appx. RSV0031, RSV0033-RSV0034.

titled "Extended Personal Jurisdiction." Porsboll's implication is that subject matter jurisdiction is established if a court can exercise personal jurisdiction over a party. Even if Porsboll's counsel sincerely failed to recognize personal jurisdiction and subject matter jurisdiction are discrete legal concepts, NRS 130.201 discusses *consent* as a valid basis for *personal jurisdiction*. As discussed above, this Court has already rejected the theory that consent can be a basis for *subject matter jurisdiction*. This Court also stated that "[t]he court may not assume jurisdiction over matters . . . based on . . . its view that because it has asserted personal jurisdiction over the parties, it can order them to do or not to do certain things." In short, the exercise of personal jurisdiction is not a basis for subject matter jurisdiction.

Even if the clarity of this Court's previous instructions were lost on Porsboll's counsel and the lower court, the adverse public policy results that would flow from a contrary holding should be obvious. If subject matter jurisdiction was equivalent to personal jurisdiction in Nevada, then any out-of-state party without contacts to Nevada would be permitted to confer subject matter jurisdiction on the Nevada courts for the purpose of child support, by simply initiating a case within its courts. Until the Nevada legislature decides that the Nevada courts should be a forum where child support actions of the non-Nevada world at large are entertained, the lower courts remain confined to the Nevada code as written. Since Nevada statutes do not provide the courts with subject

^{24.} This theory is precisely what Ms. Porsboll's counsel argued below and to this Court in opposition to Mr. Vaile's Motion for Consolidation.

²⁵ Vaile, 118 Nev. at 275; Appx. RSV0014.

matter jurisdiction to judicially determine child support for parties and their children who have never lived in Nevada, the lower court was without judicial power to act in this case.

III. THIRD THRESHOLD DEFENSE – LACK OF SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION OF THE ISSUE

THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT HAVE JURISDICTION TO RETROACTIVELY MODIFY A
CHILD SUPPORT AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PARTIES

In the event that this Court also finds that UIFSA provides subject matter jurisdiction of this case, the question of whether the lower court has subject matter jurisdiction to modify a child support order with retroactive effect must be determined. If the lower court did not have subject matter jurisdiction to modify the parties' agreement with retroactive effect, then no penalties accrued and the merits of this appeal are moot.

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